68971-1

68971-1

COA NO. 68971-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

REC[®]D OCT 162012 King County Prosecutor Appellate Unit

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEITH BLAIR,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mariane C. Spearman, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

)

1. The trial court erred in failing to declare a mistrial after the prosecutor violated a pre-trial order.

2. The court erred in denying appellant's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress evidence from the storage locker. CP^1 208 (CL c.).²

3. The court erred in denying appellant's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress evidence of jail calls. CP 206-07 (CL a.).

The trial court erred in entering CrR 3.6 conclusions of law
 "a." and "c." CP 206-07, 208.

5. Cumulative error violated appellant's due process right to a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Where the prosecutor violated the pre-trial order excluding

evidence of appellant's criminal activity in other cases, did the court err in

failing to grant a mistrial?

¹ Blair originally sought direct review in the Washington Supreme Court under No. 86373-3. The Supreme Court subsequently granted Blair's motion to transfer his appeal to the Court of Appeals, which resulted in the new appeal number of 68971-1-I. The clerk's papers are referenced as follows: "CP" for the clerk's papers designated under Supreme Court No. 86373-3; "2CP" for the clerk's papers designated under Court of Appeals No. 68971-1-I.

² The trial court's "Written Findings of Fact And Conclusions Of Law On CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress Physical, Oral or Identification Evidence" are attached as appendix A.

2. Did the court err in failing to suppress evidence recovered from the storage unit because the search warrant was stale and therefore lacked probable cause that contraband would be found there?

3. Did the court err in failing to suppress the recorded jail calls between appellant and his wife under the Privacy Act?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

>

1. Procedural Facts

The State charged Keith Blair by amended information as follows: count 4: attempted residential burglary involving Dolliver and Thompson on September 26, 2010; count 5: residential burglary involving LeCount on August 6, 2010; count 6: theft of a firearm belonging to LeCount on August 6, 2010; count 7: residential burglary involving Rollins and Murray between September 27 and 28, 2010; count 8: theft of a firearm belonging to Rollins/Murray between September 27 and 28, 2010; count 9: residential burglary involving Lee on October 11, 2010; count 10: residential burglary involving Chrisope on September 15, 2010; count 11: residential burglary involving Marti between September 15 and 16, 2010; count 12: residential burglary involving Paveglio on August 31, 2010; count 13: residential burglary involving Bodmer on September 14, 2010; count 14: residential burglary involving Saldin on July 25, 2010; count 17: theft of a motor vehicle belonging to Saldin on July 25, 2010; count 18: residential burglary involving Parvanta and Minakami on September 18, 2010.³ CP 1-8; 10RP⁴ 9-10.

A jury acquitted Blair of firearm theft on count 8. CP 184. It found Blair guilty of the lesser offense of first degree criminal trespass on count 11. CP 176. The jury found him guilty as charged on the remaining counts. CP 172-75, 177-83, 185.

The court imposed an exceptional sentence based on the "free crime" aggravator, running the 102 month sentence of confinement under count 6 consecutive to the other counts, resulting in a total sentence of 186 months confinement. CP 192, 211-13. This appeal follows. CP 199-201.

2. Description of Counts

Count 4: Dolliver and her husband, Thompson, lived in a Shoreline residence. 8RP 33. Upon arriving home on September 26, Dolliver noticed a man descending a ladder propped up against the house. 8RP 35. The man wore a light gray jacket and a backpack. 8RP 38. Dolliver asked if she could help him. 8RP 36. The man did not respond

³ Counts 1 through 3 charged Kelsey Johnson with crimes as a codefendant but she was not tried with Blair. CP 1-2. Count 15, the money laundering count, was severed and prosecuted in a separate trial. 2CP 1.
⁴ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP -5/10/11; 2RP - 5/11/11; 3RP - 5/12/11; 4RP - 5/16/11; 5RP - 5/17/11; 6RP - 5/18/11; 7RP - 5/19/11; 8RP - 5/23/11; 9RP - 5/24/11; 10RP - 5/25/11; 11RP - 5/26/11: 12RP - 7/15/11. and left. 8RP 36. Dolliver described him as a Caucasian male with dirty blond hair and height-weight proportional. 8RP 39-40. Thompson ran out to the street and saw a white male walking two blocks away with a backpack. 8RP 44-45. The man ran off after Thompson engaged him and asked why he broke into the house. 8RP 46-48. At trial, Thompson described the man as about 5'10" with sandy brown hair, gaunt and pale. 8RP 49. He was unable to identify anyone from a montage. 8RP 51-53.

On September 26, Travis Testerman saw a man who did not live in the neighborhood talking on a phone as he briskly walked up the street a few blocks away from the Dolliver residence. 8RP 55, 57, 59. The man had a backpack and wore jeans with a white T-Shirt. 8RP 58. Testerman later saw him leaving a backyard without a backpack. 8RP 59-60. A black Kia approached and stopped near the man, who went inside the car.⁵ 8RP 61-62. Testerman gave a partial license plate to the 911 operator as 3-6-0-Z. 8RP 62-64. The Kia drove off at high rate of speed. 8RP 62. Testerman went back and found a backpack in the yard. 8RP 65-66. Testerman picked out number 2 as the man from the photomontage and identified Blair as the man in court.⁶ 8RP 69-70.

⁵ Testerman later testified "I don't know if I remember seeing a black Kia." 8RP 71.

⁶ The montage itself was not admitted into evidence as an exhibit because it showed Blair in jail clothing. 8RP 219-23.

Testerman's wife testified the man jumped into a Nissan Sentra. 8RP 81-82. She later waffled on that point, saying there was no doubt it was a black sedan. 4RP 92-93. She picked number 2 out of a montage as the man she saw, but was only 40 percent sure. 8RP 85-86.

Sheriff Deputy Soderstrom responded to the 911 call. 8RP 94-95. He recovered the backpack, which contained a crowbar, T-shirt, a gray fleece coat with gloves in its pockets, and a Travelodge receipt in the name of Aaron Knapp. 8RP 95-99; Ex. 17. The next day, a citizen saw a black car stop and a young white man look towards the location where the backpack had been. 8RP 100-05.

Counts 5 and 6: The LeCounts lived in Shoreline. 8RP 136, 9RP 150. Their house was burglarized on August 6 and the following items taken: necklaces, tie clasps, cufflinks, an Xbox, walkie talkies, laptop, jewelry, coin collection, \$30,000 in cash from safe, and a shotgun. 8RP 137-41, 144-48. Blair's bank records showed a cash deposit of \$5000 into his savings account on August 3 and a cash deposit of \$15,000 into his checking account on August 9. 9RP 17-21; Ex. 136, 137.

Counts 7 and 8: Patrick Murray and Gary Rollins lived in a house in Shoreline. 7RP 159-60. Their house was burglarized on September 27 or 28 and the following items stolen: Glock handgun, a laptop, two IPods, a camera, a glucose meter, packaged freeze dried food, watches, jewelry, and coins. 7RP 163, 165-66, 169-72. A ladder was left leaning up against a bedroom window, which had been opened and its screen cut. 7RP 174-76. Motion sensor floodlights were removed. 7RP 177. A screwdriver was recovered from the floor of the residence. 8RP 31.

•

A next-door neighbor made a 911 call on September 27 upon seeing a suspicious person roaming about at around 10 p.m. 7RP 145-47. The neighbor saw the person again at around midnight at the side of Rollins's house, walking towards the back. 7RP 147-50. The man leaned to the right, as if he had a problem with his shoulder or right leg. 7RP 150-51. Sometime later, the neighbor saw the man come from the side of Rollins's house talking on a cell phone and walking toward the street with a backpack. 7RP 152-53. A black car pulled up and then parked. 7RP 153-54, 156. The man said, "Turn off the lights." 7RP 154. The man threw the backpack and more things from the house into the trunk of the car. 7RP 155-56.

Count 9: The Lee residence in Medina was burglarized on October 11. 7RP 70-72, 79-81. Various items were taken from the house, including a data projector. 7RP 70-81. Passports, social security cards, wills, a life insurance policy, credit cards, and bonds were taken from a safe. 7RP 79. A tool that did not belong to the family was left on the basement floor. 7RP 78-79. An open can of Dr. Pepper was left on a dresser. 7RP 76-77. DNA recovered from the Dr. Pepper can matched Blair's DNA profile. 7RP 112, 115, 120, 127. Blair did not have permission to be in the house on October 11. 7RP 81. Photographic evidence showed a Mercedes with license plate 613 VZQ entering Medina that day. 7RP 140-42.

Count 10: Chrisope lived in Kirkland. 8RP 179, 9RP 150. His house was burglarized on September 15 and the following items stolen: horse jewelry, flat screen TV, motorcycle riding gear, various electronics including a hard drive, a battery for charging electronic devices, and a GPS unit. 8RP 179-85. A red Honda civic was taken but left not far from the house. 8RP 183-84.

Count 11: Marti lived in Kirkland. 8RP 169. He returned home on September 16, 2010 at 2 a.m. to find his bedroom windows broken and a kitchen window removed. 8RP 169-73. A window shelf and its items were on the ground outside the window. 8RP 171-72. It did not appear anyone had been inside the house. 8RP 173.

Count 12: Paveglio lived in Kenmore. 8RP 174. The house had an attached garage with a tarp over the garage door entrance. 8RP 175-76. On August 31, he noticed the following items were missing from his garage: a lawn mower, compressor, wire feed, grinder, and paint sprayer. 8RP 175-77. Count 13: Walden lived in Shoreline. 8RP 163; 9RP 149. His house was burglarized on September 23 and the following items stolen: jewelry, laptop, sheriff's department patch, watch, and headphones/speakers. 8RP 166-67.

Count 14: The Bodmers lived in Forest Park. 8RP 150-51. Their house was burglarized on September 14 and the following items taken: five laptop computers (including a Dell Mini), jewelry, a watch, hard drives, and what was described as a men's street bike with thin wheels. 8RP 151-54, 158-62.

Counts 16 and 17: Saldin lived in Seattle. 8RP 188, 9RP 150. His house was burglarized between July 23 and 26 and the following taken: a safe, shotgun, jewelry, cigars, a humidor replica of the White House, and watches. 8RP 189-94. A Porsche convertible was also stolen. 8RP 195.

On July 25, a neighbor saw someone walking with a limp up a hill in the neighborhood. 8RP 198-99. She described the man as white and of average height. 8RP 199. A short time later, she saw the same person driving down the hill in what she later realized was Saldin's silver Porsche. 8RP 200-02. Trooper Casey Myers pursued a silver Porsche on August 1. 8RP 206-07. He eventually found the car crashed into a tree, abandoned. 8RP 209. Count 18: Parvanta and Minakami lived in Shoreline. 8RP 106-07. Their house was broken into on September 18 and the following items stolen: a ring, jewelry, computers, watches, swords, and a Chanel bag. 8RP 808-16, 131-33. A ladder was propped up against the house leading to the first floor balcony. 8RP 112.

3. Investigation

Detectives Volpe and Coblantz of the King County Sheriff's Office investigated the burglaries that resulted in the charges for this case. 5RP 15, 22; 7RP 180, 183. As background, Volpe testified that he regularly contacted gold buyers to track down stolen gold. 5RP 19-20. On September 27, 2010, Detective Volpe met with gold buyer Ryan Youngberg, who advertised on Craigslist. 5RP 24. Volpe wanted to recover gold that had been stolen in a burglary and asked Youngberg if he had bought any gold from Blair. 5RP 24. Volpe also asked if anyone had brought him gold that might have come from burglaries. 5RP 25. Youngberg testified that Blair sold gold to him. 7RP 34.

Volpe also spoke with Youngberg about Kelsey Johnson. 5RP 25. Youngberg testified that Johnson sold him gold. 7RP 67-68. Volpe wanted to recover stolen property and discuss with Johnson any information she might have. 5RP 28. Volpe confronted Johnson on September 28 at a Safeway store. 5RP 27-28. Johnson was in a Black Kia with license plate number 630 ZVJ. 5RP 29-31. Volpe seized the Kia and subsequently executed a search warrant on it. 5RP 31-32. Various items were recovered from the Kia, including (1) watches, coins, and dehydrated food belonging to Rollins/Murray (5RP 35-37); (2) a Cartier watch belonging to Parvanta (5RP 37); and (3) computer paraphernalia belonging to Chrisope (5RP 37-38). Police also recovered Employment Security Department Paperwork and a receipt with Blair's name on it.⁷ 5RP 38-40.

On October 21, Volpe waited for Johnson and Blair to show up at a motel in Everett. 6RP 10-11. They arrived in Johnson's Mercedes. 5RP 11; 6RP 121. Volpe arrested Johnson for trafficking in stolen property based on selling a stolen gold ring to Youngberg. 6RP 54-57, 68. Blair was also arrested on October 21 and put in jail. 6RP 95.

Volpe obtained a search warrant for Johnson's Mercedes. 6RP 12. Items recovered from the Mercedes included: (1) dehydrated food and coins belonging to Murray/Rollins (6RP 12-16); (2) paperwork for a new phone in Blair's name (6RP 16); and (3) a receipt for a storage unit from Lynn Storage on Highway 99 in the name of Atheta Mowen. 6RP 16. On

⁷ Contrary to Deputy Soderstrom's testimony (8RP 95-99), Detective Volpe testified the Travelodge receipt in Knapp's name was recovered from the Kia. 5RP 40-41.

November 2, Volpe went to the Lynnwood storage unit referenced in the receipt but the unit was mostly empty, containing only a boat motor, a black bag, and some speakers. 6RP 18-19, 83.

After being in jail for two weeks and charged with possession of stolen property and trafficking, Johnson contacted Volpe to provide information in an attempt to get out of jail. 6RP 75-80. Johnson told Volpe that Blair's wife, Rachel Dunham, had moved the stolen property to a storage unit in Monroe. 6RP 81-83, 86-87. Following up on information provided by Johnson, Volpe checked storage units in Monroe until he found one rented in Dunham's name. 6RP 23-25; Ex. 22.

The Monroe unit was searched and the following items recovered: (1) a computer projection device belonging to Lee (6RP 39-40); (2) swords, jewelry, Rolex watch, purse, and ring belonging to Minakami/Parvanta (6RP 40-43); (3) watch and external hard drive belonging to Bodmer (6RP 43); (4) external hard drive and GPS unit belonging to Chrisope (6RP 44); (5) shotgun, jewelry, cufflinks, rings, Rolex manual, Xbox, and portable walkie talkies belonging to LeCount (6RP 44-46); (6) Porsche key, White House humidor, cigars, and watches belonging to Saldin (6RP 46-49); and (7) watches and headphones belonging to Walden (9RP 36). Also recovered from the Monroe storage unit were a Fred Meyer Jewelers' envelope with "K Blair change" written on it and prescription pill bottle with Blair's name on it. 6RP 26-29.

Blair and his wife, Rachel Dunham, talked on the phone while Blair was in jail following his arrest on October 21. 6RP 20; Ex. 78, 139.⁸ During those conversations, Blair and Dunham referenced various items in storage, including "silver dollars" and "coins." Ex. 139. Blair also asked whether Dunham had found a gold "rollie." Ex. 139 at 7. Blair further referenced "five lappys" and told Dunham not to sell a mini Dell. Ex. 139 at 2-3. Blair also told Dunham of the need to sell the coins and "shit." Ex. 139 at 5-7.

4. Informant Johnson's Testimony

When arrested by Detective Volpe on October 21, Kelsey Johnson declined Volpe's request for information. 6RP 168-69. She later contacted Volpe and agreed to cooperate after she became aware of the seven or eight charges pending against her. 6RP 170-71, 179-81, 190-91. She made a deal with the prosecutor. 6RP 190-92. She ended up pleading guilty to two counts of possession of stolen property. 6RP 174; 7RP 12, 14-15. Johnson entered into an immunity agreement with the prosecutor's office in which she agreed to be interviewed and testify against Blair. 7RP

 $^{^{8}}$ Ex. 78 is a redacted CD recording of the jail calls. Ex. 139 is a redacted transcript of the jail calls.

19-21; Ex. 95. The prosecutor's office retained the right to nullify the agreement if it determined Johnson did not give truthful information. 7RP 21. Her sentencing was postponed until after she testified at Blair's trial. 7RP 22. Johnson acknowledged the prosecutor's office could "pull the rug" out from under her if it believed she had not given correct information at trial. 7RP 23.

Johnson testified that she first met Blair in early August 2010. 6RP 99. At the time, he was driving a silver Porsche. 6RP 100. Johnson heard it was stolen. 6RP 168. She identified Saldin's Porsche as the car driven by Blair. 6RP 100. Blair told Johnson that he gave the car to another person, who then wrecked it. 6RP 168.

Blair and Johnson began a relationship. 6RP 102. Blair asked her to drive him around to steal from houses. 6RP 104, 110. Johnson agreed. 6RP 110. Johnson said she dropped him off and then picked him up to bring back the property, first in a rented black Kia for about a week and then in her black Mercedes. 6RP 115-16, 120-22. Aaron Knapp rented the Kia. 6RP 120. Johnson would pick Blair up at a location he disclosed upon calling or texting. 6RP 115-16. There were times when Blair called and had her act as a lookout. 6RP 116. Blair told her that he used a crowbar to commit the burglaries and break into safes. 6RP 124, 128. Blair sometimes walked with a limp. 6RP 109-10. On multiple occasions, Johnson drove Blair with the property he had taken to his storage unit in Lynnwood. 6RP 118. The last time she saw property in the unit was the day before they were arrested on October 21. 6RP 118-19. Blair told her that his wife had moved the property from Lynnwood to Monroe. 6RP 119-20.

Johnson described the circumstances surrounding various charged crimes. On September 26,⁹ she drove her Kia and dropped Blair off in the early morning. 6RP 137-38. He had a backpack. 6RP 139-40. He later called and said it was very important she pick him up. 6RP 137-38. He called back a few times and changed the street numbers for the pick up. 6RP 138-39. She located him at an intersection. 6RP 139. He hopped in and told her to drive. 6RP 139. He no longer had his backpack. 6RP 139. A black truck was following them. 6RP 139, 142. She drove off at a high rate of speed and eluded the vehicle. 6RP 139, 142. Blair told her someone had come home. 6RP 142. The following day, Blair drove back to the area to find his backpack but was unsuccessful in locating it. 6RP 143. Johnson identified a jacket and shirt in the recovered backpack as belonging to Blair. 6RP 139-40.

⁹ On cross-examination, Johnson acknowledged she did not independently remember the exact dates, but rather agreed with the prosecutor's suggested dates on direct. 6RP 183-85.

At some point, Blair told Johnson that he had stolen a safe with \$60,000 inside. 6RP 162.

,

She identified a residence in Shoreline as one of the houses Blair burglarized on September 27. 6RP 130-31. She dropped Blair off around midnight from her Kia. 6RP 131. He called her about an hour later and told her to return. 6RP 131-32. Blair went into the house and then came out with some suitcases and backpacks, which contained coins, one or two laptops, and one or two guns. 6RP 133. Blair told her he climbed through a window with the aid of a ladder. 6RP 133. Johnson sold some of the coins from this house. 6RP 133-34. When Detective Volpe intercepted her at the Safeway on September 28, gold coins that she planned to show Youngberg were in her Kia. 6RP 135-37.

She identified the Lee house in Medina as one of the houses Blair robbed on October 11. 6RP 126-29. She also identified her Mercedes as the one that was photographed entering Medina that day. 6RP 121. She dropped Blair off a mile away from the house. 6RP 127-28. He called an hour later with an address and asked her to serve as a look out because he had found a safe and wanted to make sure no one came home. 6RP 128. He found only passports and birth certificates in the safe. 6RP 128.

On September 15, she picked Blair up outside Chrisope's house after previously dropping him off about a mile away. 6RP 153-55. She remembered horse jewelry, keys, a television, motorcycle riding gear, and a red car. 6RP 154-56. Blair took the red car and parked it somewhere. 6RP 155. He gave the riding gear to Aaron Knapp. 6RP 156.

On September 15, Blair called Johnson and told her that he might need help because was stuck in a window. 6RP 157-58. By the time she arrived at the residence, Blair had freed himself. 6RP 158. Johnson identified Marti's house as the one in question. 6RP 157.

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