# 68971-1

NO. 68971-1-I

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

KEITH BLAIR,

Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MARIANE SPEARMAN

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

Blair argues that the information in Detective Volpe's affidavit was stale because several weeks had elapsed between the date that Blair's wife rented the Monroe storage unit and the date of the warrant, and because stolen property is "inherently mobile." Brief of Appellant at 37-38. The argument should be rejected.

"Probable cause is not determined by merely counting the number of days between the time of the facts relied upon and the warrant's issuance." 2 W. LaFave, Search & Seizure § 3.7(a) (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 2011) (internal citations omitted). Other significant information bearing on the question of staleness includes the nature and character of the crime, the criminal, the thing to be seized, and the place to be searched. Id. (citing Andresen v. State, 24 Md. App. 128, 331 A.2d 78 (1975), aff'd sub nom. Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 96 S. Ct. 2737, 49 L. Ed. 2d 627 (1976)). Whether the warrant seeks evidence of a single offense or of repeated crimes is especially significant, and time lapses of several weeks have been upheld when the affidavit tended to establish repeated thefts, robberies, or receipt of stolen property. Id. (internal citations omitted). "Where the affidavit recites a mere isolated violation, it would not be unreasonable to imply that probable cause dwindles rather quickly with the passage of time. However, where the affidavit properly recites facts indicating activity of a protracted and continuous nature, a course of conduct, the passage of time becomes less significant." Id. (quoting United States v. Johnson, 461 F.2d 285 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1972)). See also Com. v. Burt, 473 N.E.2d 683, 692-93 (Mass. 1985) (warrant for stolen coins not stale where

- 29 -

"the affidavit described an ongoing operation observed on numerous occasions over a five-month period"). Further, in cases involving searches for particular items taken in a burglary, it is also "highly relevant" that there is "a very large amount of stolen property," that "the offender would run special risks if he were to attempt immediate disposition," that the stolen "objects would appreciate in value if retained for a longer period," or that "investigation of the most likely avenues of disposition, such as pawn shops, had not indicated that the articles had yet been disposed of." Id. (internal citations omitted).

With these factors in mind, the affidavit plainly establishes probable cause. The warrant sought evidence of not one, but a dozen home burglaries committed over several months. 2CP 87-90. Unlike drugs, the stolen property, including jewelry and watches, swords, coins, clothes, computer equipment, and guns, was "not likely to be consumed or destroyed." <u>See Com. v.</u> <u>Fleurant</u>, 311 N.E.2d 86, 90 (Mass. 1974) (fact that informant had seen a collection of machine guns at an unspecified time did not undermine warrant because a collection of weapons was unlikely to

be consumed or destroyed). The place to be searched was not a car or a motel room, but a secure storage facility, into which Johnson was certain the stolen property had been moved. Additionally, the warrant was not seeking a small number of items -there was "a lot of property filling the [Lynnwood] unit" from which the property had been moved. 2CP 90. Though law enforcement had recovered some of the stolen jewelry from gold buyer Youngberg, with whom Blair and Johnson were known to work, there was much more property outstanding. Likewise, since the detectives knew of Johnson and Blair's connection to Youngberg, as well as the specific items stolen in the several burglaries, it would have been risky to attempt to dispose of the remaining property through Youngberg or similar avenues of disposition. Finally, even though Blair's wife had rented the Monroe storage unit in September to store the stolen goods, the detectives ascertained that the Lynnwood storage unit had last been accessed on October 30 and was not yet completely emptied by November 2. Thus, the court could reasonably infer that some of the stolen property had been moved less than a week before Volpe sought the warrant, and

1304-2 Blair COA

- 31 -

was likely to be found in the Monroe unit.<sup>4</sup> (Indeed, the court relied on the information that the property had been moved to the Monroe unit to invalidate the search of Blair's home and suppress the evidence discovered there. 3RP 6-7.)

Because the affidavit furnished probable cause to believe that stolen property would be found in the Monroe storage unit at the time it was sought, the court properly denied the motion to suppress.

# 3. THE COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED RECORDED JAIL CALLS.

Blair next argues the court erred in admitting phone calls between himself and his wife, which he contends were recorded in violation of the Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030(1). Because Blair and his wife had no reasonable expectation of privacy in calls from jail

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Blair argues that Johnson's statement that Blair told his wife to move property after he got arrested, and the fact that she had rented the Monroe unit on September 13<sup>th</sup>, suggests that Blair meant that she should move the property *out* of the Monroe unit, not into it. Brief of Appellant at 39. But Johnson was likely speaking of Johnson and Blair's earlier arrest, which occurred in early September. See 6RP 104, 112. That would explain Dunham's September 13<sup>th</sup> rental of the Monroe unit, and would further support the timeliness of the warrant, since Johnson's observation of swords and coins in the Lynnwood unit on or after September 27 (the earliest time that both swords and coins could have been observed; see Brief of Appellant at 36-37) would indicate that Dunham had not moved swiftly to dispose of the stolen goods.

that they knew were recorded and subject to monitoring, the argument fails.

a. Relevant Facts.

Blair and his wife, Dunham, talked on the phone while Blair was in jail. At the beginning of each call, a recorded message announced the jail's policy to record and monitor calls. 2RP 45, 48, 55. The recording prompts the call recipient to "press 1" if she agrees to that policy. <u>Id.</u> at 55.

In these calls, Blair and Dunham refer to specific stolen items, including several computers (including the "Mini Dell"), a suitcase full of coins, and a Rolex watch. Ex. 139. They discuss where the items are being kept, and Blair urges Dunham to start selling them. <u>Id.</u>

Defense counsel moved to suppress the jail calls between Blair and his wife on the theory that they were recorded in violation of the Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030(1). 2CP 50-59. The trial court denied the motion. CP 206-07. Blair challenges that ruling.

## Blair Had No Reasonable Expectation Of Privacy.

The Privacy Act prohibits intercepting or recording a private communication transmitted by telephone unless all parties consent. RCW 9.73.030(1). A communication is private under the act when the parties have a subjective expectation that it is private, and that expectation is objectively reasonable. <u>State v. Christensen</u>, 153 Wn.2d 186, 193, 102 P.3d 789 (2004).

Washington courts have repeatedly held that inmates have no objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in phone calls from a local jail. <u>State v. Hall</u>, 168 Wn.2d 726, 729 n.1, 230 P.3d 1048 (2010); <u>State v. Modica</u>, 164 Wn.2d 83, 88, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008); <u>State v. Hurtado</u>, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 294 P.3d 838 (February 19, 2013); <u>State v. Haq</u>, 166 Wn. App. 221, 260, 268 P.3d 997 (2012); <u>State v. Archie</u>, 148 Wn. App. 198, 204, 199 P.3d 1005 (2009). <u>See also State v. Babcock</u>, 168 Wn. App. 598, 607, 279 P.3d 890 (2012) (inmate had no objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in conversations occurring in the jail visitors' room, which had signs stating that the conversations could be monitored). This is so because inmates have a reduced expectation of privacy, which is further diminished by warnings that the phone calls are recorded and may be monitored. <u>Modica</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 88; <u>Haq</u>, 166 Wn. App. at 260.

Further, Blair consented to the recording of his conversation with his wife. As this Court pointed out in its Modica opinion, the recording of private communications or conversations does not violate the privacy act when all the participants consent to such recording. RCW 9.73.030(1)(a) and (b). A party to a conversation is deemed to have consented when the person knows that the recording is taking place. State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 449-50, 149 P.3d 446, 454-55 (2006); State v. Townsend, 147 Wn.2d 666, 675, 57 P.3d 255 (2002) (party deemed to have consented to the recording of e-mail messages because he knew such messages would be automatically recorded on the recipient's computer); In re Marriage of Farr, 87 Wn. App. 177, 184, 940 P.2d 679 (1997), rev. denied, 134 Wn.2d 1014 (1998) (party deemed to have consented to the recording of message when he left the message on an answering machine, the only function of which is to record messages). Although our Supreme Court found it unnecessary to reach the question of consent in its Modica opinion, 164 Wn.2d at 90, this Court has since held that a jail call recipient "expressly consented to recording when she pressed or dialed

three to continue the call after the recorded warning." <u>Archie</u>, 148 Wn. App. at 204.

Both Blair and Dunham heard the recorded message alerting them to the fact that the calls were being recorded, but nevertheless chose to converse. "Accordingly, they each consented to the recordings." <u>Modica</u>, 136 Wn. App. at 450. While the trial court did not admit the tapes on that theory, Blair and Dunham's consent to the recordings provides an additional basis to affirm. <u>State v. Poston</u>, 138 Wn. App. 898, 905, 158 P.3d 1286 (2007) (appellate court may affirm on any basis supported by the record).

Blair also contends that <u>Modica</u> and its progeny do not apply to his case. He first argues that the "mere possibility" that his calls would be monitored does not destroy his reasonable expectation of privacy. This argument ignores the notice Blair received that established a *certainty* that the conversations would be recorded. There cannot be any Privacy Act violation when a person knows that his or her conversation will be recorded and chooses to speak anyway. <u>Farr</u>, 87 Wn. App. at 184 (message left on answering machine); <u>State v. Pejsa</u>, 75 Wn. App. 139, 876 P.2d 963 (1994), rev. denied, 125 Wn.2d 1015 (1995) (police negotiator told

- 36 -

1304-2 Blair COA

defendant that he was recording the conversation). <u>Townsend</u>, on which Blair relies, does not further his argument. There, the court found that no Privacy Act violation occurred because Townsend, who knew that his messages were being recorded on the receiving computer, had impliedly consented to the recording. 147 Wn.2d at 678-79. "[A] communicating party will be deemed to have consented to having his or her communication recorded when the party knows that the message will be recorded." 147 Wn.2d at 675-76 (citing Farr, 87 Wn. App. at 184).

Additionally, where husband and wife consent to their conversations being recorded by the jail, they have waived their spousal privilege. Blair relies on dicta in <u>Modica</u> in his attempt to obtain a contrary result:

However, we caution that we have not held, and do not hold today, that a conversation is not private simply because the participants know it will or might be recorded or intercepted. ... Intercepting or recording telephone calls violates the privacy act except under narrow circumstances, and we will generally presume that conversations between two parties are intended to be private. Signs or automated recordings that calls may be recorded or monitored do not, in themselves, defeat a reasonable expectation of privacy. However, because Modica was in jail, because of the need for jail security, and because Modica's calls were not to his lawyer or otherwise privileged, we conclude he had no reasonable expectation of privacy. 164 Wn.2d at 88-89.<sup>5</sup> Blair contends that the phrase "or otherwise privileged," should revive his spousal privilege. This argument should be rejected.

First, Blair cannot establish any spousal privilege in these conversations. The party asserting the existence of a privilege has the burden of proving it. <u>Dietz v. Doe</u>, 131 Wn.2d 835, 844, 935 P.2d 511 (1997) (burden of proving the existence of the privileged relationship and that information sought fell within the privilege rests with the party asserting it); <u>State v. Glenn</u>, 115 Wn. App. 540, 555, 62 P.3d 921 (2003) (party claiming clergy/penitent privilege has the burden to show it attached). Engaging in conversation in the presence of others, or where conversations may readily be overheard, vitiates privilege. <u>See, e.g., State v. Falsetta</u>, 43 Wash. 159, 86 P. 168 (1906) (privilege did not preclude bystander from testifying to communications overheard between attorney and client); <u>Ramsey v. Mading</u>, 36 Wn.2d 303, 312, 217 P.2d 1041 (1950) (communications between attorney and client were not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This language is dicta because the communications at issue in <u>Modica</u> were between an inmate and his grandmother, and there was no suggestion that they were subject to any privilege. Further, the <u>Modica</u> court's conclusion that there was no reasonable expectation of privacy in the jail calls precedes the quoted language, and the court arrived at that conclusion without reference to the absence of privilege. Nor have any of the several Court of Appeals decisions that rely on and interpret <u>Modica</u> referred to the absence of privilege as a basis for finding no reasonable expectation of privacy in jail calls. <u>See Haq</u>, 166 Wn. App. at 260; Archie, 148 Wn. App. at 203-04.

privileged when they occurred in the presence of others); <u>State v.</u> <u>Martin</u>, 91 Wn. App. 621, 959 P.2d 152 (1998), <u>aff'd</u>, 137 Wn.2d 774, 975 P.2d 1020 (1999) (communications between penitent and clergy not privileged when made in presence of third person); <u>State</u> <u>v. Smyth</u>, 7 Wn. App. 50, 53, 499 P.2d 63 (1972) (marital privilege did not apply to letters from jail when husband knew all outgoing mail was read by jail personnel).

Second, since a testimonial privilege "may result in the exclusion of evidence which is otherwise relevant and material, contrary to the philosophy that justice can be achieved only with the fullest disclosure of the facts, the privilege cannot be treated as absolute; but rather, must be strictly limited to the purpose for which it exists." <u>Dike v. Dike</u>, 75 Wn.2d 1, 11, 448 P.2d 490 (1968). The purpose of the spousal privilege is "to promote family harmony by promoting full and frank discussion." 5A Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice § 501.30 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 2012) (citing <u>State v. Sanders</u>, 66 Wn. App. 878, 833 P.2d 452 (1992)). Where the purpose of otherwise privileged communication is to frustrate effective prosecution, privilege does not apply. <u>Sanders</u>, 66 Wn. App. at 884.

- 39 -

Part of Blair's purpose in the communication at issue was to urge Dunham to sell/dispose of stolen property, an unlawful act that would frustrate effective prosecution. Accordingly, he cannot show that the spousal privilege applies. <u>Cf. Whetstone v. Olson</u>, 46 Wn. App. 308, 732 P.2d 159 (1986) ("attorney/client privilege does not extend to communications in which the client seeks advice to aid him in carrying out an illegal or fraudulent scheme").

Because the trial court correctly concluded that Blair had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his phone calls from jail, because he and his wife consented to the recording of those calls, and because the spousal privilege does not apply to those communications, Blair can establish no error in admitting the jail calls.

# THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY.

Finally, Blair asserts that the cumulative error doctrine requires reversal of all of his convictions. That doctrine teaches that an accumulation of errors may warrant reversal, even if each error standing alone would otherwise be considered harmless. State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (citing <u>State v. Greiff</u>, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000)). But the doctrine does not apply where the errors are few and have little or no effect on the outcome of the trial. <u>Id.</u> As discussed above, Blair has failed to prove that any of the alleged errors affected the outcome of his trial. Similarly, Blair has not indicated how these alleged errors combined to affect the outcome of his trial. As a result, his cumulative error claim fails.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Blair's convictions.

DATED this \_5<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2013.

Respectfully submitted,

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